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We met in Ketchikan on 16 April 1996 to determine if Employee is entitled to workers' compensation benefits for his ulcerative colitis.  Employee is represented by attorney Chancy Croft.  Defendants are represented by attorney Robert J. McLaughlin.  


The hearing was conducted before a two-member panel under the authority of AS 23.30.005(f).
  Due to time pressures created by the large number of witnesses who testified, the parties agreed to submit their closing arguments in writing.  We held the record open to receive those documents.  The documents were received on 26 April 1996, after which Designated Chairman Lair and Alaska Workers' Compensation Board (AWCB) Member Williams proceeded with deliberations.  After they were unable to reach an agreement, Designated Chairman Lair notified on 22 May 1996 the parties that AWCB Member Patricia A. Vollendorf had been assigned to participate in the deliberations.  Copies of the parties' hearing briefs and written closing arguments, the hearing tapes, and certain documentary evidence were provided to Ms. Vollendorf.  The newly constituted panel subsequently met
 and deliberated.  We closed the record on 11 June 1996, the date of our next regularly scheduled AWCB meeting.  


On 5 June 1996, eight days after deliberations were completed, we received a Petition from Defendants requesting that we "suspend deliberations" and schedule a new hearing.
  Employee filed an Answer on 12 June 1996 in which he objected to the Petition.


ISSUES

1.  Is Employee's claim barred by the statute of limitations in AS 23.30.105(a)?


2.  Is Employee's ulcerative colitis a work-related condition?


3.  If his ulcerative colitis is work related, is Employee entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) compensation or permanent total disability (PTD) compensation?


4.  Are Defendants responsible for the payment of Employee's medical costs for his ulcerative colitis and the surgery it necessitated.


5.  Are Defendants responsible for the payment of Mr. Croft's attorney's fees and costs?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEEDINGS

Employee is a 42 year-old volunteer fireman, seasonal light construction worker, emergency medical technician (EMT), dispatcher, and self-employed CPR (cardiopulmonary resuscitation), ETT (emergency trauma technician), EMT, and first-aid instructor. 


On 26 February 1991 Employee tripped while on a fire call and injured his left knee.  He was seen by R. Taber, M.D., in the emergency room (ER) at Ketchikan General Hospital (KGH) the next day.  Dr. Taber diagnosed a quadriceps strain.  He prescribed wrapping the knee, ice, and Advil.
  (Taber, ER Note, 27 February 1991.)


Employee returned to the ER on 13 March 1991, where he was seen again by Dr. Taber.  Employee reported redness and warmth on his lower calf which Dr. Taber diagnosed as cellulitis.
  He prescribed oral and intravenous (I.V.) Augmentin, an antibiotic; I.V. Ancef, an antibiotic; I.V. Toradol, an NSAID, and oral Tylox
 for pain.  (Taber ER Note, 13 March 1991.)


Employee returned to the ER the following day, as instructed, to receive additional I.V. antibiotics.  He was seen by Karl Richey, M.D.  He referred Employee to William H. Anthes, M.D., the following week.  (Richey, ER Note, 14 March 1991.)  Dr. Taber prescribed additional I.V. antibiotics on 15 March 1991.  On  16 March 1991 T. Dietz, M.D., another ER physician, prescribed a different I.V. antibiotic.  On 19 March 1991 E. Meloche, M.D. saw Employee in the ER.  He recommended continuation of the antibiotics and one aspirin
 per day.


On 21 March 1991 Employee was seen by Dr. Anthes for ongoing discomfort in his left lower leg. Dr. Anthes is board-certified in internal medicine and critical care medicine, and became Employee's treating physician.  Dr. Anthes suspected superficial phlebitis, and ordered additional testing to rule out a blood clot.  He prescribed eight aspirin per day or indomethacin.
  A sonogram revealed no deep vein thrombosis.


Employee returned to Dr. Anthes on 1 April 1991.  Employee had developed "gastric intolerance" to the Augmentin, an antibiotic, and/or Indocin,
 and stopped taking them.  (Anthes chart note 1 April 1991.)


On 3 April 1991 Defendants accepted Employee's claim and paid temporary total disability (TTD) compensation beginning 13 March 1991 at the rate of $461.19 per week.  (Compensation Report 4 April 1991.) 


On 17 April 1991 Dr. Anthes concluded Employee's problem was probably superficial phlebitis.  Due to his continued left knee and lower leg pain, Employee was referred to Joseph A. Shields, M.D., a Ketchikan orthopedic surgeon.  Dr. Anthes prescribed Naprosyn, an NSAID.  (Anthes chart note, 17 April 1991.)


Dr. Shields diagnosed traumatic chondromalacia of the patella, with a possible lateral meniscus tear.  (Shields progress note, 23 April 1991.)  


On 16 May 1991 Employee saw Dr. Anthes due to return of lower leg pain.  Dr. Anthes again prescribed the NSAID indomethacin.  The next day, Employee missed a physical therapy appointment due to an adverse reaction to medications.


In late June 1991 the redness returned in Employee's left lower leg.  Dr. Shields decided to perform an arthroscopic evaluation, so referred Employee back to Dr. Anthes for a preoperative evaluation.  (Anthes report, 1 July 1991.)


On 18 July 1991 Employee saw Dr. Anthes with symptoms of increased bowel movements, urgency, and rectal bleeding, which Employee reported had started in mid-April.  Dr. Anthes noted Employee had received the antibiotics Ancef, Augmentin, and Penicillin.  Dr. Anthes suspected the intestinal symptoms were caused by antibiotic-induced colitis, and took samples to detect Clostridium difficile bacteria and toxin.  He prescribed Flagyl, an antibiotic.  Dr. Anthes performed a sigmoidoscopy on 23 July 1991 which revealed no pseudomembranes, which if present, would indicate antibiotic-induced colitis.
  Subsequently, Dr. Anthes diagnosed "Proctitis, undetermined etiology or cause, though in a setting of recent use of antibiotics."  (Anthes chart note, 29 July 1991.)


On 8 August 1991 Dr. Anthes started Employee on Rowasa enemas.  The active ingredient in Rowasa is mesalamine, an anti-inflammatory drug.  The bleeding stopped on 10 August and the enemas were discontinued on 12 August 1991.  (Anthes chart note, 12 August 1991.)  On 4 September 1991 Dr. Anthes saw Employee again for "colitis."
  Employee reported no further rectal bleeding or diarrhea after the two Rowasa enemas.  Dr. Anthes described this response as "dramatic,"  but expressed concern that the condition would return.  Notwithstanding the negative tests for Clostridium difficile and the absence of pseudomembranes, Dr. Anthes again expressed his suspicion that the inflammatory changes were related to the antibiotics.  (Anthes chart note, 4 September 1991.)  


Dr. Shields performed arthroscopic surgery on Employee's left knee on 9 August 1991.  He found traumatic arthritis and a medial plica.  He debrided the patellofemoral joint and lateral compartment and excised the plica.  (Shields Operation Record, 9 August 1991.)


While attending a church-related activity in Sitka in November 1991, Employee was awakened with left-sided chest pain.  He was seen at the Sitka medical center by R.C. Hunter, M.D.  In taking Employee's history, Dr. Hunter recorded that Employee "has a small amount of blood in his stools." Employee described his ongoing condition as "bleeding internally" and related it to antibiotic use beginning in April 1991.  Dr. Hunter concluded Employee's pain was probably "GI in origin."  (Hunter report, 1 November 1991.)


On 29 January 1992 Employee saw James B. Kullbom, M.D., a Ketchikan orthopedic surgeon, for a re-injury to his left knee.  Dr. Kullbom became Employee's orthopedist after Dr. Shields retired.  Dr. Kullbom thought Employee suffered no significant new injury and prescribed Bufferin
 and heat.


Employee saw Dr. Richey at the KGH emergency room for a recent onset of "stomach discomfort" on 3 July 1992.  Employee related his problem, for which he was treated with Zantac, an ulcer medication, to the I.V. antibiotics he had received in the past.  Employee also reported he was "allergic to almost all antibiotics with the exception of Penicillin."  Zantac and a G.I. cocktail were prescribed.  (Richey ER note, 3 July 1992.)  The treatment was not effective, and Employee returned to the ER the next day with increased pain.  


Employee returned to the ER on 11 July 1992 with continuing chest pain.  He reported light rectal bleeding, which he continued to associate with antibiotic therapy.  He was admitted to the hospital.  (S. Schultz, M.D., History and Physical, 11 July 1992.)  Employee was discharged on 13 July 1992 with a diagnoses of chest pain, "secondary to G.I. cause," cholelithiasis (gallstones), and chest wall pain.  Orudis, an NSAID, and Prilosec, an ulcer medication, were prescribed. (Schultz discharge summary, 13 July 1992.)


Employee returned to Dr. Anthes on 22 July 1992 for his chest pain, gallstones, and rectal bleeding.  Dr. Anthes concluded Employee's chest pain was related to his gallstones.  He recommended Employee have his gallbladder removed before he had another attack.  Dr. Anthes also felt Employee's colitis had returned and prescribed Rowasa enemas.  (Anthes chart note, 22 July 1992.)  


Dr. Anthes referred Employee to Howard N. Anderson, M.D., for gallbladder surgery.  (Anthes letter, 30 July 1992.)  In his report, Dr. Anderson noted Employee suffered from "mild ulcerative colitis, treated with Rowasa enemas."  Employee's gallbladder was removed on 1 August 1992.  (Anderson Operative Report, 1 August 1992.)  He was seen at the Silverton Hospital in Oregon a few days later with fever, chills, and a partially collapsed lung.  A "chronic problem with rectal bleeding" was noted.  (Silverton Hospital ER report, 4 August 1992.)


Employee returned to Dr. Anthes on 17 August 1992.  His bloody bowel movements had stopped, and Dr. Anthes felt Employee's colitis was resolved.  Keflex, an antibiotic, was prescribed for some purulent drainage from the surgical site.  (Anthes chart note, 17 August 1992.)


Employee was seen for rectal bleeding again in December 1992.  Dr. Anthes prescribed Azulfidine, an anti-inflammatory agent, and hydrocortisone enemas.  (Anthes chart note, 16 December 1992.)  Employee went to the KGH emergency room on 19 December 1992 because he felt light-headed.  Dr. Taber diagnosed ulcerative colitis, improved with Azulfidine.  Employee returned to the emergency room on 21 December 1992 where he was seen by Dr. Dietz for cramping and nausea.   Dr. Dietz diagnosed ulcerative colitis with bleeding and cramping one year previously.  Dr. Dietz stated Employee had "no trouble in the interim until approximately 1 week ago when he began having rectal bleeding and cramping." (Dietz, emergency room note, 22 December 1992.)  Due to the rectal bleeding, Dr. Anthes performed a sigmoidoscopy the next day, and tissue samples were taken.  The sigmoidoscopy revealed severe inflammation of the colon.  Dr. Anthes diagnosed "moderate to severe colitis that is probably ulcerative colitis."  Dr. Anthes felt the nausea and cramping could be caused by intolerance to Azulfidine.  (Anthes report, 22 December 1992.)  The biopsies revealed "severe acute and chronic colitis with crypt abscesses consistent with active inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis type."  (Pathology report,  28 December 1992.)


Employee continued on Prednisone and Azulfidine cortisone but the frequent bloody stools continued.  Employee began to lose weight and looked tired.  Dr. Anthes referred him to Douglas M. Levine, M.D., a gastroenterologist at the University of Washington Medical Center in Seattle.  (Anthes chart note, 14 January 1993.)  Employee's condition continued to deteriorate.  He began to have bloody diarrhea and his entire abdomen was tender.  (Anthes chart note, 24 January 1993.)


Employee was seen at the University of Washington Medical Center on 26 January 1993.  A colonoscopy was performed
 to rule out ulcerative colitis and to determine the extent of the disease. The entire colon were found to be abnormal. Biopsy samples were taken.  Pancolitis secondary to ulcerative colitis was found.  (GI Endoscopy Report, Margaret Shuhart, M.D., 26 January 1993.)  A final diagnosis of ulcerative colitis was assigned.  (Pathology Report, 28 January 1993.)  Dr. Levine hospitalized Employee for I.V. steroid therapy.  He noted that if the inpatient therapy was not successful, a colectomy
 would be required.  (Levin report, 26 January 1993.)


A total colectomy was performed on 2 February 1993.  Employee was discharged on 8 February 1993.  The discharge summary was prepared by surgical resident Ramin A. Royai, M.D.  Under the History section of the report, Dr. Royai stated in part:  "(Employee) had his first episode of ulcerative colitis in the fall of 1991.  He is status post a prolonged antibiotic treatment for a left lower extremity cellulitis."  (Discharge Summary, 8 February 1993.)


After his colectomy, Employee has continued to experience intermittent rectal bleeding and pain, diarrhea, and fatigue.  He returned to the University of Washington four more times for additional surgery and treatment of his colitis.  He began to experience pain in his arms and legs, especially with exertion.  Employee has also visited the emergency room at KGH and has been treated by Dr. Anthes for various conditions.


Employee testified at hearing that in February 1991 he was given Aspirin for his knee when he went to the Emergency Room.  In addition, he "pretty regularly" took over-the-counter NSAIDs, such as Advil and ibuprofen for his knee pain.


Employee testified that his rectal bleeding began after he started taking medications for his knee, and at first was not too concerned because it was "just spotting."  (Short, 28 April 1995 dep.
 at 18.)  Before that, he had never had any rectal bleeding or other colitis symptoms.  (Short I at 21.)  Employee testified his rectal bleeding continued intermittently after the course of Rowasa enemas was completed in August 1991, but he did not return to Dr. Anthes due to the cost, which Insurer declined to pay.  (Short II at 14-16, 18-20.)  


Employee testified the bleeding, which became uncontrollable in late 1992, and the other symptoms of colitis, were a continuation of the same symptoms he had in 1991, but the severity of the symptoms fluctuated.  He stated:  


The severity changed.  [I]t would . . . get worse for a while, and then it'd kind of clear for a little bit, and then get worse, and that's the reason I was trying to use diets, different things, to see if it had effect on it.  But, as far as the color of the blood, and the way you dropped the blood, and urgency, yeah.  It's all the same.

(Id. at 27-28.)


Employee testified that his grandfather had a colectomy due to an unknown cause, one of his brothers has colitis which resulted in a colectomy, his mother has diverticulitis of the colon, and five of his aunts and uncles have colitis.  (Id. at 8-10.)  


At hearing, Employee testified he is now unable to perform regular full-time work.  He testified his condition has left him "undependable" because he is sometimes too fatigued to get out of bed, he has pain, and he needs to take soaking baths to ease rectal inflammation and pain.  Employee testified that after February 1991 he tried to work as a dispatcher because he wanted to stay involved with the fire department.  He continued to dispatch until the end of 1992 but had to quit when he became too ill and needed to use the bathroom so frequently.  Over the last two years Employee has tried to teach classes, but he needed assistance because he could only teach for about four hours a day.  Employee also tried to repair electronic equipment, and was unsuccessful due to problems with concentration.


In response to Employee's inquiry, Dr. Levine prepared a letter which states in part: 


Clearly the medications that you were given, which included Indomethacin and Naprosyn, which are so-called nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, have been associated with worsening ulcerative colitis.  I would refer you back to your lawyer regarding exactly what your potential strategies might be in this regard.  There is ample evidence that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can both produce colitis and can also, in some cases, worsen ulcerative colitis.  This is fairly well accepted . . . .  I do consider myself an expert in the diagnosis and treatment of inflammatory bowel disease and would be willing to support the idea that the use of such anti-inflammatory drugs could, more likely than not, contribute to a worsening of ulcerative colitis.

(Levin letter 27 March 1995, emphasis added.)


Employee testified at hearing that prior to Dr. Levine's letter, no doctor had indicated that the NSAIDs were the cause of his condition.  On cross-examination, Employee acknowledged that beginning in the summer of 1991, he believed the medications he was taking for his knee were responsible for his inflammatory bowel symptoms, but at that time he thought that antibiotics, not NSAIDs, were the cause of his problems.


Dr. Levine was deposed in August 1995.
  Dr. Levine is board certified in internal medicine and gastroenterology.  (Levin I at 5.)  He testified that ulcerative colitis and Chrohn's disease are the most common forms of idiopathic inflammatory bowel diseases of the colon.  "Idiopathic" means that the cause of the disease is unknown.  (Levin I at 6, Levine II at 18.)  


Dr. Levine was asked to clarify his 27 March 1995 letter.  He responded in part:


[T]here is evidence [NSAIDs] of their own accord can produce, A:  What I term colitis, which I should specify as being different from ulcerative colitis.  I'm using colitis in a very generic meaning.


  The non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, in fact, can produce ulcers or inflammation in almost any part of the gastrointestinal tract, including the small bowel or the small intestine, the large bowel or the colon, or the stomach.


  So what I really  meant by the way this letter was written was that it is known that these drugs can produce inflammation of the colon, but that they can also worsen ulcerative colitis, but I did not mean that the drugs can actually cause ulcerative colitis.

(Levine I at 22.)


On examination by Mr. McLaughlin, Dr. Levine went on to testify that at the most, the NSAIDs used by Employee would have temporarily aggravated his ulcerative colitis. (Id.)  He testified that the indomethacin and Naprosyn were not a substantial factor in causing Employee's ulcerative colitis.  (Id. at 29.)


On cross-examination by Mr. Croft, Dr. Levine testified he was unable to rule out that the Indomethacin and Naprosyn Employee took in March, April and May 1991 were a substantial factor in the development of Employee's ulcerative colitis.  He was then asked if the NSAIDs were a substantial factor in the flareup, aggravation, or acceleration of Employee's ulcerative colitis causing it to become symptomatic.  Dr. Levine replied:


A.  I think that's possible, but what we would have to invoke is that either the patient had a subclinical form of ulcerative colitis prior to his treatment with these drugs, or he may have had low grade symptoms that just had never been enough for him to seek medical attention . . . .  What I'm concerned about is certainly patients may have a disease like ulcerative colitis long before it's diagnosed, and what we could possibly be dealing with is some worsening of this condition by these non-steroidal drugs. . . .


Q.  So that the drugs didn't cause it, but might aggravate or accelerate it?


A.  This is true in my opinion.


Q.  And could cause it to become symptomatic where it had been basically asymptomatic before?


A.  I think that's possible, yes.


Q.  And cause it to require treatment where it had not needed treatment before?


A.  That is also possible, yes.

(Id. at 36-37.)


Dr. Levine also testified that once a patient has had an episode of ulcerative colitis, it is very likely to reoccur, and the timing of the reoccurrence "is incredibly variable from patient to patient."  (Id. at 37.)


Mr. McLaughlin asked Dr. Levine to assume the NSAIDs Employee took in 1991 aggravated a pre-existing ulcerative colitis condition, and that Employee was then symptom-free between the fall of 1991 and the fall of 1992.  Dr. Levine testified that given those circumstances, he would conclude that the flareup or aggravation in 1992 was temporary in nature, and that there was no causal link between the flareup or aggravation and the NSAIDs taken in 1991.  (Id. at 47.)  


In October 1995 Mr. Croft wrote to Dr. Levine about his testimony concerning the absence of ulcerative colitis symptoms during 1991-1992.  The letter states in part:


You will recall that at your deposition that because of the 14 month interval between September 1991 and November 1992 without any rectal bleeding or other symptoms of ulcerative colitis that you felt there was no relationship between Mr. Short's initial flare-up from April 1991 to September 1991 and the long range deterioration in his condition.

Mr. Croft then summarized the statements of nine of Employee's acquaintances which attest to Employee's complaints of rectal bleeding between August 1991 and September 1992.  Mr. Croft then asked Dr. Levine if the new information changed his opinion about the relationship between the onset of Employee's ulcerative colitis symptoms in 1991 and their reoccurrence and worsening in 1992.  Dr. Levine declined to change his opinion because the symptoms had not been substantiated by medical records.  


Dr. Levine was re-deposed on 29 March 1996. Mr. Croft again raised the issue of continuing symptoms.  Dr. Levine testified that from his review of the medical records, Employee had no symptoms of ulcerative colitis during the period from the fall of 1991 to the fall of 1992.  He also stated it was important to know if the symptoms persisted.  (Levine II at 35-36.)  He then testified:


Q.  [G]iven the fact that N.S.A.I.D.'s were taken, the symptoms that had never existed before developed and continued, would that indicate that the N.S.A.I.D.'s were a substantial factor in the two-year long existence of those symptoms?


A. Yes.  Given that a diagnosis of ulcerative colitis were made at a certain point, N.S.A.I.D.'s were used after.  Then symptoms considered, I would have to. . . I would believe the relationship between the two.

(Id. at 38.)


Dr. Levine was asked if a patient with ulcerative colitis goes into remission, and then re-develops colitis, how far back could the NSAIDs have been responsible for the re-development of the condition.  He expressed doubt that it was consistent with his previous testimony,
 but said that after reflection, he did not know the answer to the question.  (Id. at 43.)


Dr. Levine also testified that in most cases, when the patient stops taking the NSAIDs, the inflammation of the colon subsides.  He testified, however, that a certain percentage of patients will have their ulcerative colitis worsen on NSAIDs, and that their symptoms will continue even after they stop taking the drugs.  He stated, however, he did not know if the NSAIDs or the nature of the disease caused the symptoms to persist.  (Id. at 39-40.)


Dr. Levine was asked his opinion of the cause of Employee's ulcerative colitis.  He speculated that some patients are probably "genetically susceptible" to the disease and that something in the environment will trigger its development.  (Id. at 15.)


On direct examination by Mr. McLaughlin, Dr. Levine testified the NSAIDs were not a substantial factor in "bringing about" Employee's ulcerative colitis condition.  (Id. at 17.)  He also testified the antibiotics Employee took did not have a substantial role in causing the condition, and testified there was no medical literature which proved that a combination of NSAIDs and antibiotics were a substantial factor in causing or bringing about the condition.  (Id.)


On cross-examination, Dr. Levine testified that although there is no good evidence to support it, his view is that family history is only one of several different substantial factors which cause ulcerative colitis.  (Id. at 33-34.)


Gerald S. Roberts, M.D., is a board-certified internist and gastroenterologist who practices in San Francisco.  In early 1996 Dr. Roberts reviewed Employee's medical records and performed a literature search of medical journal articles which discuss a relationship between the use of NSAIDs and toxicity to the G.I. tract, especially the colon.  He prepared no written report, but was deposed on 25 March 1995.  


Dr. Roberts testified that the cause of ulcerative colitis is not known, but the condition is thought to be a genetic and immunologic disease.  (Roberts dep. at 24.)  


 Dr. Roberts testified that given Employee's family history, he is at a higher risk of developing idiopathic colitis than most of the population.  (Id. at 50.)  Dr. Roberts also testified:


Despite the fact that [Employee] does have a positive family history, until the time that he was given NSAIDs . . . he had not had any symptoms. . . . [o]f rectal bleeding, which would be the cardinal sign of inflammatory bowel disease; in this case ulcerative colitis.  So the temporal relationship between his receiving the NSAIDs and his developing rectal bleeding and colitis-like picture is very strong."

(Id. at 35-36.)


Dr. Roberts testified that the mechanism by which NSAIDs act to cause colitis is not understood.  However, he testified there is agreement in the medical community that NSAIDs cause acute colitis.  He explained:


A.  Cause acute colitis.  Which is ulcerative, for all practical purposes, on histology.


    We try to use the term "ulcerative colitis" for the idiopathic kind.  But as I said, the NSAID induced colitis and idiopathic colitis can look the same; it's just when you ask the proper questions or get the medication history and so on, you can be more specific. Idiopathic means we don't know the cause.  If someone has been on NSAIDs and developed a colitis, then we can say NSAID-induced colitis, whether it be de novo, reactivated or hypersensitive or whatever.

(Id.at 40.)


Concerning Employee's condition, Dr. Roberts testified he believes Employee developed "de novo," or new, colitis which was first documented in July 1991.  (Id. at 28.)


He also testified:


[F]rom the records it sounds like he didn't have much in the way of rectal bleeding between the initial episodes and the visit on July 22nd, 1992.


  Now, whether he had quiescent ulcerative colitis at that time or he most likely had an acute episode of NSAID-induced colitis that resolved because he was off the NSAIDs for a period of time, or once again he was given another NSAID challenge, and redeveloped the symptoms in relationship to that.  That's probably what happened.  So it wasn't quiescent in the sense of ulcerative colitis being quiescent.

(Id. at 31.)


Dr. Roberts testified he believes Employee's colitis was NSAID-induced, and not antibiotic-induced, due to the absence of pseudomembranes and because the test for the Clostridium difficile toxin antibody was negative.  He believes Employee redeveloped the symptoms after Orudis was prescribed on 13 July 1992  (Id. at 22.)


Dr. Roberts testified about the medical journal articles he had reviewed.  He discussed articles by Gary R. Gibson, M.D., et. al., Colitis Induced by Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs, 152 Arch Intern Med 625 (March 1991); Neal M. Davies, Ph.D. Can., Toxicity of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs in the Large Intestine, Dis Colon Rectum 1311 (Lee E. Smith, M.D., ed Dec 1995); and, Herbert J. Kaufmann, M.D., Howard L. Tausin, M.D., Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Activate Quiescent Inflammatory Bowel Disease, 513 Annals of Internal Medicine (October 1987).  


Dr. Roberts was asked how much time may pass after taking NSAIDs before the symptoms of de novo colitis may appear.  He referred to Dr. Gibson's work, and testified the duration between exposure and diagnosis ranged from 2 days to 12 years, with a median of 3 months.  He acknowledged, however, that NSAID-induced ulcerative colitis is rare, (Roberts dep. at 41) and that in most, but not all, cases the colitis resolves when the NSAIDs are discontinued (Id. at 49). 



At hearing, Dr. Roberts testified only 10 percent or less of people who take NSAIDs may develop colon problems.  He testified the duration of NSAID use before onset of symptoms is quite variable and may range from several days to up to six months.  In connection with Dr. Kaufmann's article, he testified that when a patient has quiescent ulcerative colitis, the condition may be reactivated after taking NSAIDs for a period of one day to six months.  Dr. Roberts also testified about case studies from Sweden and Norway in which irreversible exacerbations of ulcerative colitis occurred after six weeks and six days of NSAID use.  Both cases ultimately led to a colectomy.  


Dr. Roberts testified at hearing that some of the medications used to treat ulcerative colitis can cause a worsening of the condition.


In response to a question posed by Mr. Croft, Dr. Roberts testified it was his opinion that the NSAIDs Mr. Short took for his knee injury, and "the continual rechallenging of additional NSAIDs," was a substantial factor in his ulcerative colitis which eventually led to him having his colectomy.    


In connection with his claim, Employee submitted letters, statements, and the testimony of personal and business acquaintances concerning the ongoing nature of his symptoms beginning in 1991 and continuing.  In addition, Employee and ten other witnesses testified at hearing.  Following is a summary of the correspondence and testimony.


-Jon Paden is a minister with the Churches of Christ in Juneau who has known Employee since the min-1980's.  He is aware of three incidents of rectal bleeding:  In June 1991 at the Naha Bible Camp, in November 1991 at the Southeast Alaska Bible Lectureship, and again at the Naha Bible Camp in June 1992.  At hearing, Rev. Paden verified his testimony and corrected a date in his letter. 


-R. W. Shaffer, a Ketchikan attorney, submitted a letter and an affidavit.  He has known Employee since 1986 as personal friend and client.  Employee came to Mr. Shaffer in September or October 1991 to draft a lease on the downtown building he wished to rent.  Beginning in October 1991, Mr. Shaffer became aware of Employee's rectal bleeding and diarrhea in the course of discussions concerning Employee's ability to work and fulfill his obligations under the terms of the lease, which became effective 1 January 1992.  Employee intended to use the building to teach classes, but was unable to teach due to his colitis, and eventually used the building to sell used books and greeting cards.  At hearing, Mr. Shaffer testified it was "basically [Employee's] children that ran the shop."  In November 1992 Employee had to sublease the building.  Mr. Shaffer testified that between October 1991 and November 1992 Employee's symptoms fluctuated, and testified there was no continuing improvement, but "a general progression downhill."


-Henry W. Bell resided in Employee's home from June 1990 to December 1993.  He first became aware of Employee's rectal bleeding in March or April 1991.  He was also aware of the bleeding during the period September - November 1991 because Employee had to take breaks from working on remodeling Employee's shop in the downtown area.  He stated Employee had a "severe bout" of bleeding in November 1991 when Employee was in Prince Rupert.  Employee reported bleeding again in June 1992 when he was in Atlanta, and in July 1992 after his gallbladder surgery.  At hearing, Mr. Bell testified the symptoms would "clear up" for a few days but always returned, testified the symptoms never completely stopped, and testified the severity of the symptoms varied.  Beginning in the fall of 1991 Employee began to change his diet, eating mostly vegetables.  On cross-examination, Mr. Bell testified that in April 1991 Employee said the bleeding was related to medications he was taking, and would stop after the medications were discontinued.


-Darlene Guzman wrote a letter and was subsequently deposed.  She is the Dispatch Coordinator for the Ketchikan Fire Department, and has known Employee since November 1987.  Ms. Guzman and Employee attended conferences together in Atlanta, Georgia in May 1992, and Anchorage in November 1992.  Ms. Guzman was aware of rectal bleeding and fatigue in May 1992, and continuous rectal bleeding in November which affected Employee's ability to teach a class as scheduled.  In addition, Ms. Guzman testified that "near the end of 1991" Employee failed to complete his dispatch requirements and was unable to help her teach a class because of his rectal bleeding and fatigue.  (Guzman dep. at 5-6.)  Ms. Guzman remembers talking with Employee about his rectal bleeding because it was interfering with his work.  Instead of seeing a physician, he was trying to control his "continuous rectal bleeding" with diet and rest.  (Id. at 9-10.)


-Julie deBourgignon wrote a letter and was subsequently deposed.  She has been a volunteer at the Ketchikan Fire Department for five years, and met Employee there.  (Guzman dep. at 3.) She attended the conference with Employee in Atlanta in May 1992.  Employee was ill, and due to his rectal bleeding was unable to fully participate in the conference or the extracurricular activities.  Ms. deBourgignon remembers Employee's problems being attributed to anti-inflammatory medications, but was unable to recall when that information came to her attention.  (Id. at 9-10.)


-H. Wayne Berg is an insurance agent from Ketchikan that completed an application for a life insurance policy for Employee in August 1991.  At the time of the application, Employee was experiencing rectal bleeding.  Employee reported "intestinal bleeding, reaction to medications from knee injury. . . ." on the insurance application.  The policy lapsed after a year due to non-payment.  During that time Employee experienced "increasing problems with the colitis."  At hearing, Mr. Berg testified that between August 1991 and October 1992 he saw or talked to Employee every week to 10 days, testified Employee's rectal bleeding did not stop for more than "a couple of days," and testified his condition was deteriorating.


-John Hailey is a preacher for the Church of Christ in Terrace, B.C.  He met Employee five years ago and they became close friends.  They saw each other several times a year at the Naha Bible camp and the fall lectureships.  He became aware of Employee's rectal bleeding in June 1991.  Employee and Mrs. Short visited Terrace, B.C. in October 1991 and Employee was experiencing rectal bleeding at that time.  Rev. Hailey refers to other events in November 1991, winter 1991, June 1992, and November 1992 during which Employee was experiencing rectal bleeding.


-Donna Hartley has known Employee for 30 years and became aware of his rectal bleeding in 1991.  She was aware Employee changed his diet drastically in October or November 1991 in an attempt to control the bleeding.  At hearing, Ms. Hartley testified that in November 1991 Employee and Mrs. Short brought a diet book back from Canada.  At that time, Employee was experiencing rectal bleeding and diarrhea.  She Also testified Employee's symptoms continued after November 1991 and got worse, until he became homebound.  In response to our question, Ms. Hartley stated she had never known Employee to have any symptoms of colitis during the 30 years she had known him, and that until he became ill, he had been "very energetic."


-Barbara C. Hassell is a close friend who was aware of Employee's rectal bleeding and pain before and during the Sitka Lectureship in October-November 1991.  She became fully aware of the severity of Employee's condition in October 1992.


-Gary K. Souza has been Employee's close friend and minister for nine years.  Beginning in 1991 he engaged in many discussions with Employee about his rectal bleeding.


-Scott R. Davis stated during a fire-department symposium in Anchorage in November 1992 Employee had rectal bleeding and was unable to fully participate in the symposium.


-David Hull wrote he is a Shift Lieutenant for the Ketchikan Fire Department and has known Employee for several years.  He relates the beginning of Employee's problems to his knee injury in February 1991.  He recalls an EMS [emergency medical services] symposium in Sitka in March 1992 during which Employee discussed his ongoing rectal bleeding with him.  He observed Employee's "energy was faltering" and the difficulty Employee had trying to stay involved in the fire department.  He stated:  "Alan has suffered with this seemingly endless problem continuously for the last several years."   Mr. Hull confirmed this information at hearing.


-Bill Kriegsman is a Captain and EMS coordinator for the Ketchikan Fire Department.  He met Employee in May 1992 at the EMS Expo in Atlanta, just before he joined the Ketchikan Fire Department.  Employee stated he was experiencing gastrointestinal distress, without giving specifics, which caused discomfort but was "not incapacitating" and there was no subsequent relapse.  During travel to Anchorage in November 1992 Employee described "abdominal cramping, GI bleeding, and general weakness."  After that trip Employee's symptoms became worse.  A few months later Employee was forced to request inactive status with the Ketchikan Volunteer Fire Department.  Capt. Kriegsman confirmed this information at hearing.


-Lloyd S. Brooks II has been friends with Employee for about 20 years.  He wrote that he saw Employee in April 1991 while Employee's new business was being remodeled.  Employee expressed concern about his rectal bleeding and seemed pale and weak.  In May 1991 Mr. Brooks assisted with the remodeling and observed the toilet "was full of blood."  During the following years he visited numerous times and noted little improvement in Employee's health, which Employee attributed to his rectal bleeding.  He concluded Employee "never recovered from the complications he sustained in 1991."  At hearing, Mr. Brooks testified he saw Employee in church every other week, and Employee always appeared  pale and weak.  Mr. Brooks also testified it was late September and October 1991 when he helped Employee remodel his building, and that he saw the blood in the toilet at the end of September 1991.  Based on his personal observations, Employee's colitis symptoms never stopped, and his health deteriorated very drastically between September 1991 and January 1993.  On cross-examination Mr. Brooks was uncertain when Employee made a connection between medications and his colitis, and stated Employee was experimenting with herbs, teas, and diet to control his bleeding.


-Douglas Short is Employee's brother.  He wrote that Employee visited his home in Juneau for a few days in October 1991 before going to a church meeting in Sitka.  Employee was not feeling well, was pale, had no energy, and declined to eat spicy food for fear of making the rectal bleeding worse.  Employee went to the bathroom "continually" during his stay in Juneau and said he was "hemorrhaging."  He testified Employee did not obtain more medical care during the 1991-92 period due to "budget problems."


-J.T. Thompson, D.D.S., was deposed on 19 February 1996.  He has practiced dentistry in Ketchikan for 24 years and knows Employee as a patient.  In June 1991 Dr. Thompson performed a root canal and crowned the tooth.  He prescribed Percodan for pain and an antibiotic.  The work was completed on 24 September 1991.  (Thompson dep. at 4-6.)  Dr. Thompson prepared a letter dated 3 October 1995 (Dep. exhibit No. 1.) in which he states he discussed Employee's health frequently during late 1991.  Employee told Dr. Thompson his rectal bleeding was related to medications he had taken earlier in 1991.  Dr. Thompson's nephew suffered from a problem similar to Employee's, which was thought to be due to prednisone.  Dr. Thompson recalls Employee was "debilitated" in June or July 1991 due to the colitis.   (Thompson dep. at 10.)  Dr. Thompson also testified he saw Employee in June, July, August and September 1991, and Employee's condition appeared to progressively decline during that period.  Employee was weak, nauseous and flushed, like a bad case of the flu that lasted for four months.  (Id. at 19.)


-Karl Richey, M.D., is an ER physician at Ketchikan General Hospital.  Dr. Richey knows Employee through his work as an EMT and fireman, and saw Employee in the emergency room as a patient.  He wrote that he inferred a relationship between Employee's knee injury and the cellulitis which developed.  During the course of treatment with antibiotics and NSAIDs, Employee "developed a persistent, debilitating colitis, with associated abdominal pain, loss of appetite, diarrhea & rectal bleeding.  This progressed to actually become life threatening, necessitating the surgical removal of his entire colon."  Dr. Richey stated that NSAIDs and antibiotics "as initiating and exacerbating agents in colitis & inflammatory diseases of the bowel is well represented in the medical literature."  He concluded the treatment of Employee's knee injury resulted in complications and led to "a long downward spiral" resulting in his present condition.  (Richey dep., ex. No. 1.)  Dr. Richey testified that standard internal medicine and gastroenterology textbooks report a strong association between NSAIDs and antibiotics in the initiation and/or exacerbation of a variety of inflammatory bowel conditions, including ulcerative colitis.  (Richey dep. at 9.)  He testified the tests Dr. Anthes performed could not rule out colitis caused by antibiotics and NSAIDs.  (Id. at 11-12.)  Dr. Richey also testified there is a very strong temporal relationship between the drugs administered and the onset, continuation and worsening of his inflammatory bowel condition.  (Id. at 12-14.)  He also opined that family history has a role in the development of the disease.  (Id. at 15.)  Dr. Richey concluded that the antibiotics and NSAIDs Employee used either caused or exacerbated his inflammatory bowel disease.  (Id. at 25.)  Dr. Richey believes the NSAIDs and antibiotics used in combination contributed to Employee's condition.  (Id. at 27-28.)


Dr. Anthes is Employee's treating physician.  He is board certified in internal medicine and critical care medicine.  (Anthes dep. at 4.)  He described the symptoms of ulcerative colitis as "more frequent stools, rectal discomfort, rectal frequency, mucus and blood in the stool, and then abdominal cramping." He also testified there is no consistent pattern to the disease and that it can go into remission and then flare up again over a period of a few days to many months.  (Id. at 52-53.)


Dr. Anthes testified that inflammatory bowel disease can run in families and that an individual may be genetically predisposed to the illness.  Given Employee's family history of inflammatory bowel disease, Dr. Anthes opined Employee's family is genetically disposed to the condition.  He also opined that when a person is so predisposed, the disease may be triggered after some additional insult, such as dysentery or possibly antibiotics. (Id. at 28-30, 44.)  Dr. Anthes testified he was unaware of any scientific evidence that links colitis with anti-inflammatory medications.  (Id. at 64.)


Concerning the role of antibiotics, Dr. Anthes testified that based on the tests he performed, which were negative, he "could not prove it was antibiotic associated colitis," but he still believed it was possible antibiotics were the cause of the problem.  He stated there is "a  lot of medical uncertainty, even when you do all those tests."  (Id. at 34-36.)  He stated that Employee was treated with Flagyl, an antibiotic specific for antibiotic induced colitis, in the fall on 1991 and his condition improved, but he did not know if the condition "totally resolved."   (Id. at 37.)  He acknowledged, however, that based on the tests, it is more likely than not, i.e., 51 percent, that Employee did not have antibiotic induced colitis.  (Id. at 48.)


Deborah K. Short has been married to Employee since 1971.  She and Employee have four children.  At hearing, Mrs. Short testified that before February 1991 Employee had never had any of the symptoms of ulcerative colitis.  She testified he began to have abdominal cramping and pain a couple of months after his knee injury, which he attributed to the medications.  The symptoms "constantly got worse," and she began to observe blood in and around the toilet.  She also saw Employee become tired and lethargic, and indirectly observed diarrhea and urgency.  She testified that after April 1991 there was never a period of more that a week to 10 days during which he was symptom-free.  


Mrs. Short testified that although she had health insurance through her employer, it paid only 80 percent of the usual, customary, and reasonable charges, and Employee did not go to the doctor because they were unable to afford it.  She also felt Employee was afraid to face the possibility that a colectomy would be necessary, especially in view of the negative social consequences which resulted after his grandfather's and brother's surgery.  In November 1991 she and Employee tried various things, such as diet and not using aluminum pans, to improve his condition.


As indicated above, Employee's physicians prescribed numerous medications for his knee injury, his cellulitis/phlebitis, and his colitis. The medications included several NSAIDs.  Dr. Levine and Dr. Roberts have implicated NSAIDs, in varying degrees, in connection with Employee's ulcerative colitis.  As indicted above, Employee received ibuprofen (Advil) in February 1991; I.V. Toradol, Aspirin, and indomethacin (Indocin) in March 1991; Naprosyn in April 1991, and indomethacin again in May 1991.  In July 1992 Orudis was prescribed in connection with Employee's gallbladder condition.  The Physicians' Desk Reference (PDR), 49th Ed. (1995), of which we take administrative notice, provides descriptions and prescribing information for both prescription and over-the-counter medications.  Each of the NSAIDs carries a warning which states in part: 


  Serious gastrointestinal toxicity such as bleeding, ulceration, and perforation can occur at any time, with or without warning symptoms, in patients treated chronically with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.  Although minor upper gastrointestinal problems, such as [disturbed digestion] are common, usually developing early in therapy, physicians should remain alert for ulceration and bleeding in patients treated chronically with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs even in the absence of previous GI tract symptoms.


The product information for Toradol indicates that incidences of rectal bleeding which are "probably causally related" to the drug, occur in one percent or less of patients who receive it.  (PDR at 2495.)


The product information for Aspirin lists "gastrointestinal bleeding" and/or ulceration as an adverse reaction.  (Id. at 203.)


The product information for indomethacin warns:  "Single or multiple ulcerations, including perforation and hemorrhage of the. . . large intestine, have been reported to occur with Indomethacin.  Fatalities have been reported in some instances."  The warning also states in part:  "Increased abdominal pain in ulcerative colitis patients or the development of ulcerative colitis . . . have been reported to occur rarely."  (Id. at 1513.)


The product information for Naprosyn states that "colitis, gastrointestinal bleeding and/or perforation" occurs in less than one percent of patients receiving Naprosyn, and that there is a "probable causal relationship" for those conditions.  (Id. at 2479.)


The product information for Orudis lists rectal hemorrhage, gastrointestinal perforation, and intestinal ulceration as occurring in less than one percent of patients receiving Orudis.  It has been determined there is a "probable causal relationship" between those conditions and Orudis.  Ulcerative colitis also occurs in less than one percent of patients receiving the drug, but the causal relationship is "unknown."  (Id. at 2706.)


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 


Statute of Limitations

AS 23.30.105(a) provides in pertinent part:  "The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement."  (Emphasis added.)


Employee's inflammatory bowel condition was definitively diagnosed as ulcerative colitis by the pathology report dated 28 December 1992.
  Employee was obviously aware of the seriousness of his condition by late 1992 or early 1993 when the condition was diagnosed, and Employee was transferred to the University of Washington Hospital.  Employee's colon was removed there in February 1993.  


From our review of the medical records, and the testimony of Dr. Anthes, Employee's treating physician, it is also apparent that Employee and Dr. Anthes continued to suspect antibiotics as the cause of Employee's inflammatory bowel disease.  Even after Employee's colectomy, Dr. Royai mentioned "prolonged antibiotic treatment" in connection with Employee's ulcerative colitis.  (Discharge Summary, 8 February 1993.)  The record also contains numerous medical references to "sensitivity" and "allergic reactions" to antibiotics, and to colitis related to antibiotic use.  The relationship between antibiotic use and Employee's colitis was not medically established, however, due to the absence of pseudomembranes on sigmoidoscopic examination in July 1991, and the negative tests for Clostridium difficile.  In addition, Dr. Levine testified the antibiotics Employee took did not have a substantial role in causing his condition.


Employee testified that until he received Dr. Levine's 27 March 1995 letter, he was not aware that NSAIDs may have caused his colitis.  We find no evidence in the medical record which indicates Employee suspected NSAIDs as the cause of his problems, or that the NSAIDs could contribute to the worsening of his condition, until Dr. Levine wrote his letter.  Clearly Dr. Anthes made no connection between the use of NSAIDs and Employee's colitis, because he testified he was unaware of any connection between the two.  We find it would have been futile for Employee to pursue a claim for workers' compensation benefits based on his then-held belief that antibiotics caused his ulcerative colitis, because the medical evidence, i.e., the absence of pseudomembranes and Clostridium difficile toxin, did not support that conclusion.  In fact, the absence of pseudomembranes and Clostridium difficile toxin indicated his colitis was not antibiotic-induced colitis.


AS 23.30.105(a) provides that an employee is not entitled to workers' compensation benefits unless a claim is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the disability, and its relationship to the employment.  We find Employee had no evidence of the relationship between NSAIDs and his colitis until 27 March 1995 when Dr. Levine wrote to Employee making that connection.  Therefore, we find employee was either unaware of, or had good reason to doubt, the relationship between his work-related knee injury, for which NSAIDs were prescribed, and his colitis, until 27 March 1995.  Therefore, we find Employee's claim for workers' compensation benefits would not be barred under AS 23.30.105(a) if he filed his claim on or before 27 March 1997.  Employee filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim on 24 February 1995.
  Therefore, we find Employee's claim is not barred under AS 23.30.105(a) for failing to timely file a claim.


Continuity of Symptoms

Due to Dr. Levine's testimony, the parties have repeatedly addressed the issue of whether the symptoms of Employee's ulcerative colitis continued during the period beginning in mid-August 1991 after the Rowasa enemas were administered, and July 1992 when Employee returned to Dr. Anthes for problems with rectal bleeding.


Employee asserts that his symptoms continued during the 1991-1992 period.  Employee's assertion is not well supported by the medical records, and some of the records contradict Employee's assertion.  For the most part, there are no medical records which shed much light on the issue.  Defendants dispute the credibility of Employee's testimony, and that of the numerous witnesses which support his claim that his rectal bleeding was essentially continuous after April 1991.  


Although there appears to have been some increase and decrease in their severity, we find the symptoms of Employee's ulcerative colitis, especially the rectal bleeding, continued during the period from August 1991 through July 1992.  We rely on Employee's and Mrs. Short's testimony, whom we found to be credible witnesses.  AS 23.30.122.  We also rely on Dr. Hunter's 1 November 1991 report from Sitka Medical Center, and the ample correspondence and testimony from Employee's friends acquaintances, and business associates.


Is the Ulcerative Colitis Work-Related?

AS 23.30.120(a)(1) provides in pertinent part:


  (a)  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that


    (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.


The Alaska Supreme Court has held that the presumption not only applies to causation, but to non-causation issues, including continuing disability.  Baker v. Reed-Dowd Co. 836 P. 2d 916, 919 (Alaska 1992); Bailey v. Litwin Corp., 713 P. 2d 249, 254 (Alaska 1986).  It also applies to continuing medical treatment or care.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P. 2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).


The Court recently stated:


  AS 23.30.120(a)(1) creates a presumption in favor of compensability.  In cases involving pre-existing medical conditions, the aggravation or acceleration
 of the condition by the injury must be presumed.  Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981) (Smallwood II).  However, the presumption does not attach until the employee establishes a preliminary link between the disability and the employment.  Furthermore, "in claims `based on highly technical medical considerations' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."  Id. at 316 (quoting Commercial Union Cos. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261, 1267 (Alaska 1976) (Smallwood I).  Once the employee makes a prima facie case of work-relatedness, the presumption of compensability attaches and shifts the burden of production to the employer.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must then present substantial evidence that the disability is not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Servs., 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  This can be accomplished either by producing affirmative evidence that the injury is not work-related or by eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the injury is work-related.  Smallwood II, 623 P.2d at 316.  Medical evidence may be necessary to rebut the presumption of compensability, depending on "the probative value of the available lay evidence and the complexity of the medical facts involved."  Veco, 693 P.2d at 871.  Once the presumption of compensability is rebutted, the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Id. at 870.

(Tinker v. Veco, Inc., ___ P.2d ___, Op. No. 4329 (Alaska, March 29, 1996).


It is not disputed, and we find, that Employee suffered from idiopathic ulcerative colitis, and that the cause of that condition is unknown.  Drs. Levine and Roberts are the principal medical experts in this case, and Dr. Anthes is Employee's treating physician.  The fact that the cause or causes of idiopathic ulcerative colitis is unknown, has led, we believe, to opinions and testimony from the medical experts which at times, are equivocal, self-contradictory and confusing.  As a result, the evidence relied on by the parties to establish and rebut the presumption of compensability is not well defined, and generally weak.


There are, however, some areas of general agreement.  It is not disputed, and we find, that Employee has a significant family history of inflammatory bowel disease.  As indicated, Dr. Anthes testified he believes Employee's family is genetically predisposed to developing inflammatory bowel disease.  Dr. Roberts testified that due to his family history, Employee is at a higher risk then most of  developing idiopathic colitis.  Dr. Levine testified some individuals are "genetically susceptible" to developing ulcerative colitis, and that he believes a family history of ulcerative colitis is only one of several "substantial factors" which cause the disease.  


There is also general agreement among those familiar with the subject, and we find, that NSAIDs can be harmful to the intestines, and may play a role in aggravating or accelerating inflammatory bowel disease.  There is even some evidence NSAIDs may, although rarely, cause idiopathic ulcerative colitis.  We rely on the PDR, and on Dr. Levine's March 1995 letter and his testimony that NSAIDs can produce colitis and "worsen," "aggravate." and "accelerate," ulcerative colitis.  We also rely on Dr. Roberts' testimony that NSAIDs cause acute colitis, and Dr. Richey's testimony that both NSAIDs and antibiotics can be instrumental in the initiation and/or exacerbation of inflammatory bowel disease, including ulcerative colitis.


Employee and Mrs. Short have testified that Employee's rectal bleeding, a "cardinal" symptom of ulcerative colitis, first began after he started taking the medications for his knee.  He also testified that he had never experienced any of the symptoms of ulcerative colitis before that time.  We find no medical or lay evidence to the contrary, and we have found Employee to be a credible witness.  Accordingly, we find the symptoms of ulcerative colitis Employee experienced first began in or around April 1991, soon after he began to take NSAID and other medications for his work-related knee injury.  We rely on Employee's and Mrs. Short's testimony and the medical records.


Because the cause of idiopathic ulcerative colitis is unknown, Employee is unable to prove the NSAIDs he took for his knee injury caused the disease.  Instead, Employee asserts that NSAIDs aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition, specifically idiopathic ulcerative colitis.   As indicated above, Employee is entitled to rely on the presumption of compensability if he is able to establish a preliminary link between his disability (i.e., his ulcerative colitis which led to the colectomy), and his employment.  Due to the technical nature and complexity of medical issues involved in this case, we find medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link.


The Preliminary Link

To establish the preliminary link, Employee relies on 1) the "Warning" for Indocin found in the PDR,
 2) on the temporal relationship
 between Employee's ingestion of medications and the onset of ulcerative colitis symptoms in the spring of 1991, 3) on the presumption of continuing disability,
 4) on Dr. Levine's testimony that NSAIDs can aggravate or accelerate ulcerative colitis
 and 5) on Dr. Levine's testimony that if Employee's ulcerative colitis symptoms developed and continued, the NSAIDs were a substantial factor in their continuation for two years
.  (Employee's Hearing Brief at 7-8, Closing Brief at 3.)  


In addition:  Dr. Roberts testified that Employee developed "de novo" colitis which was first documented in July 1991;
 Dr. Roberts testified at hearing that the NSAIDs Employee took for his knee injury and the "continual rechallenging of additional NSAIDS" were a substantial factor in his ulcerative colitis and the resulting colectomy; Dr. Richey wrote that the treatment of Employee's knee injury and the complications led to "a long downward spiral" leading to his colectomy; and Dr. Richey testified that the antibiotics and NSAIDs Employee used either caused or exacerbated his inflammatory bowel disease
. 


We find sufficient medical evidence in the record to establish the preliminary link, i.e., that the NSAIDs aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce Employee's disability.  We rely on the evidence cited above.  Since Employee has made a prima facie case, the presumption of compensability attaches.  


Rebut the Presumption

To overcome the presumption, Defendants must present substantial evidence that Employee's condition is not work-related. They may accomplish this either by producing affirmative evidence the disease is not work-related, or by eliminating all reasonable possibilities that it is work-related.  The Court recently stated:


An employer has always been able to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert opinion evidence that "the claimant's work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability."  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P. 2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer and not the burden of proof, we examine the evidence tending to rebut the presumption by itself in determining whether substantial evidence has been presented.  Veco Inc. v. Wolfer, 683 P. 2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's injury without ruling out work-related causes.  Childs v.Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).

(Stephens v ITT/FELEC Servs, ___ P.2d ___, Op. No. 4346 (Alaska, May 3, 1996).


To overcome the presumption, Defendants rely on the testimony of Drs. Anthes and Levine which they assert demonstrates Employee's "colitis was not caused by either the antibiotics or NSAIDs."  They rely 1) on Dr. Levine's testimony that indomethacin and Naprosyn were not a substantial factor causing Employee's ulcerative colitis;
 2) on Dr. Anthes' testimony that Employee's colitis was not antibiotic-induced colitis;
 3) on Dr. Anthes' testimony it is "unlikely" anti-inflammatory drugs produced the symptoms of colitis;
 4) on Dr. Anthes' testimony he is unaware on any scientific evidence which links colitis with anti-inflammatory medications;
 5) on Dr. Levine's testimony that NSAIDs were not a substantial factor in bringing about Employee's ulcerative colitis, that antibiotics did not have a substantial role in causing it, and that he was unaware of any medical literature that proves NSAIDs and antibiotics may combine to cause ulcerative colitis;
 and 6) on Dr. Levine's testimony that at the time of Employee's surgery, they thought they were treating idiopathic ulcerative colitis, that the pathology report form Employee's biopsies and colectomy were consistent with idiopathic ulcerative colitis, and that NSAIDs had no long-term effect on that condition
.  (Defendants' Hearing Memorandum at 10, Closing Argument at 7-8.)


We find weak affirmative evidence that Employee's disease is not work-related.  
When the testimony of Drs. Levine and Anthes is examined alone, and in view of the Court's holding in Gibson, we find the record contains the substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.  Therefore, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


Preponderance of the Evidence

In weighing the evidence, we find the opinions of Dr. Levine tending to refute a relationship between the NSAIDs Employee took in 1991, and his colectomy, should be accorded less weight due to his reliance on his belief that Employee's symptoms of ulcerative colitis, especially the rectal bleeding, stopped in August 1991, and then resumed in July 1992.  His belief in this regard is contradicted by an overwhelming amount of credible evidence as summarized above.  


In connection with the absence of medical documentation during the August 1991 to July 1992 period, and Dr. Roberts' conjecture that Employee's symptoms re-occurred after a "rechallenge" with the NSAID Orudis, which was prescribed for Employee's gallbladder condition, we note, as did Employee, that once an employee is disabled, the law presumes he remains disabled, absent substantial evidence to the contrary.  (Baker at 919.)  In this connection we also note Dr. Levine's testimony that "the nature of ulcerative colitis is for it to tend to reoccur in patients, whether they are on treatment for it or not, but the timing of such episodes is incredibly variable. . . ."  (Levine I at 37.)


Defendants rely on Dr. Levine's testimony that the indomethacin and Naprosyn Employee took in 1991 was not a substantial factor in causing his ulcerative colitis.  (Levine I at 29.)  However, neither the question nor Dr. Levine's answer considered the other NSAIDs Employee took during the Spring on 1991, i.e., Aspirin, ibuprofen, and I.V. Toradol.


Defendants rely on Dr. Anthes' testimony that he felt it is unlikely anti-inflammatory drugs caused the symptoms of colitis.  This testimony is weakened by Dr. Anthes' testimony that he is unaware of the scientific evidence on the subject.  


In weighing the evidence, we rely on and find very persuasive, the opinions of Drs. Roberts and Richey about the importance of the temporal relationship between Employees's ingestion of NSAIDs and the onset of his ulcerative colitis symptoms, symptoms which we have found fluctuated in severity, but never stopped from April 1991 through 1993 when the colectomy was performed.  We note that although the medical records show Employee ingested Aspirin before his late-February 1991 knee injury, his rectal bleeding did not begin until April 1991 after he had taken several different NSAIDs.


We also rely on the persuasive medical evidence which indicates rectal bleeding can be caused by NSAIDs, and on the fact that Employee's colectomy was eventually performed due to uncontrollable rectal bleeding.  


In his 27 March 1995 letter, and his explanation thereof, Dr. Levine emphasized a difference between "colitis" which may be induced by NSAIDs, and "idiopathic ulcerative colitis."  In Dr. Levine's opinion, NSAIDs do not cause the latter condition.  Dr. Levine was asked about his ability to discern a difference between idiopathic ulcerative colitis and NSAID-induced ulcerative colitis based on microscopic examination of the samples taken from Employee's colon.  He stated:


It's a complicated question.  I believe yes.  There are very good discriminating features on biopsy or pathology in the colon that is fairly specific with ulcerative colitis which I don't believe would be seen with non-steroidal inflammatory drug-induced inflammation of the colon.


  To be quite honest, I don't believe there has been really a specific medical study where the pathology in each of these two circumstances has been scientifically compared to prove that difference; but based on my experience, I suspect that there would be.

(Levine II at 56, emphasis added.)

No pathologist testified about this issue.  Dr. Levine's testimony about the lack of a scientific basis for his conclusions cast some doubt on the ability of the medical profession to distinguish the "idiopathic" variety from the "NSAID-induced" variety of the disease, and on the testimony indicating the NSAIDs were not a substantial factor in causing Employee's condition. Dr. Roberts testified the two conditions look the same, and the diagnosis depends in part on the medication history provided by the patient.  (Roberts dep. at 40.)  Dr. Levine's testimony on this issue leads us to rely less on the opinions about causation based on a differentiation in the diagnosis, and to rely more on the fact that Employee's rectal bleeding began soon after he ingested NSAIDs, and continued, with fluctuations in severity, until a colectomy was performed to control it.


We find Employee proved his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  In reaching that finding we rely on the same evidence we relied upon to establish the presumption of compensability and the above discussion.  As we have found Employee proved his claim by a preponderance of the evidence, we find Employee's ulcerative colitis, and the resulting colectomy, are work-related. 


Disability Compensation


AS 23.30.180(a) concerns PTD compensation.  It provides:


  In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability.  If a permanent partial disability award has been made before a permanent total disability determination, permanent total disability benefits must be reduced by the amount of the permanent partial disability award, adjusted for inflation, in a manner determined by the board.  Loss of both hands, or both arms, or both feet, or both legs, or both eyes, or any two of them, in the absence of conclusive proof to the contrary, constitutes permanent total disability.  In all other cases permanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts.  In making this determination the market for the employee's services shall be


    (1) area of residence;


    (2) area of last employment;


    (3) the state of residence;


    (4) the State of Alaska.


AS 23.30.185 concerns TTD compensation.  It provides:


  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.


In his Application for Adjustment of Claim, Employee requested payment of PTD compensation from November 1991 and continuing.  In the alternative he requested TTD compensation.  At hearing, Employee requested Defendants to stipulate that Employee is totally disabled as a result of his ulcerative colitis.  Defendants declined to so stipulate as no rehabilitation assessment has been completed.


Defendants controverted all benefits related to Employee's rectal bleeding and ulcerative colitis on 17 October 1991.  Employee has been paid TTD compensation or temporary partial disability compensation through 1 March 1992 for his knee injury.


Dr. Roberts testified that when patients have the more complicated form of ulcerative colitis, as Employee does, the disease may have disabling consequences.  He declined to offer an opinion about Employee's ability to work.  (Roberts dep. at 51-52.)  At hearing, Employee testified he has ongoing physical problems and pain.  He also testified he is now unable to perform regular full-time work due to pain and fatigue.  We find no medical evidence which indicates Employee has reached medical stability.  Although Employee testified he attempted to return to work after his colectomy, we find no evidence he has had any earnings.  We find the evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability.  We rely on Employee's uncontradicted testimony about his physical condition and inability to work.  We find Defendants have not submitted the substantial evidence necessary to rebut the presumption.  We find Employee is entitled to TTD compensation at his previous rate of $461.19, beginning 2 March 1992.
  


  To determine if an employee is permanently totally disabled, we must examine his residual wage-earning capacity.  In doing so we consider factors such as the employee's age, education, extent of injury, the availability of employment in the area of the employee's residence, and the employee's intentions regarding future employment.  Hewing v. Peter Kiewit & Sons, 586 P.2d 182 (Alaska 1978), Vetter v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264 (Alaska 1974).  We agree with Defendants.  We find we have insufficient information to determine if Employee is entitled to PTD compensation.  We will retain jurisdiction to determine that issue.


Medical Costs

AS 23.30.095(a) provides in pertinent part: 


  The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital services, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring the treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.



As we have determined Employee's ulcerative colitis and colectomy are work-related, we find Defendants are responsible, under AS 23.30.095(a), for the medical costs associated with the treatment of the colitis, and the surgery performed as a result of that condition.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes about which medical care is related thereto.  


Attorney's Fees and Costs

AS 23.30.145 provides:


  (a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent [sic] on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 per cent [sic] of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.  When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded.  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.


Employee seeks payment of his attorney's fees in the amount of $40,100.00 for 200.5 hours of work at $200.00 per hour. He seeks costs of $14,415 for 192.2 hours of paralegal work at $75.00 per hour, and additional costs of $4,427.43 for long distance telephone calls, postage, copies, messenger service, airfare and lodging, facsimile services, medical consultation and report, court reporter charges, and miscellaneous research costs.


We find Defendants controverted Employee's claim, and we have awarded disability compensation and medical benefits as requested.  Accordingly, we find Defendants are responsible for Employee's attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(a).  Defendants have not objected to any of the fees or costs Mr. Croft itemized.  In determining the fee, we are to apply the nature-length-complexity and benefits test set out in AS 23.30.145(a).


Based on his attorney's fee affidavit, we find Mr. Croft provided routine legal services for a case which is litigated.  The time expended in the litigation was increased because the hearing was held in Ketchikan, where Employee and most of his witnesses reside.  Mr. Croft resides in Anchorage.  We find Mr. Croft has been involved in this case since February 1995, not an unusual length of time for such a complicated case.  The case was unusually complex, due to the nature of medical and legal issues involved.  We find Mr. Croft was entirely successful in obtaining the benefits sought.


We are unable to calculate the statutory minimum attorney's fee because we do not know the cost of the medical care we have awarded.  We estimate the TTD compensation due through the end of June 1996, is approximately $104,229.00 (226 weeks x $461.19 per week).  The statutory minimum fee on that amount is about $10,500.00.  We find Mr. Croft is entitled to a fee in excess of the statutory minimum attorney's fee.  We find Defendants are responsible for Mr. Croft's attorney's fees of $40,100.00 as requested.


We may award paralegal and the other legal costs to a successful litigant under 8 AAC 45.180(f)(2),(3),(6),(8),(10),(13), (14),(15) and (17).  We find Defendants are responsible for Employee's legal costs of $18,842.43 ($14,415.00 + $4,427.43) as requested.


ORDER

1.  Defendants shall pay temporary total disability compensation at the rate of $461.19, beginning 2 March 1992 and continuing.  We retain jurisdiction to determine if Employee is entitled to permanent total disability compensation.


2.  Defendants shall pay Employee's medical costs associated with his ulcerative colitis and colectomy.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve disputes.


3.  Defendants shall pay Employee's attorney's fees of $40,100.00 and legal costs of $18,842.43.


Dated at Juneau, Alaska this 28th day of June, 1997.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



/s/ L.N. Lair                      


Lawson N. Lair, Designated Chairman



/s/ Patricia A. Vollendorf         


Patricia A. Vollendorf, Member



/s/ James G. Williams              


James G. Williams, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

A compensation order may be appealed through proceedings in Superior Court brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


A compensation order becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board, and unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted, it becomes final on the 31st day after it is filed.


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of Allen D. Short, employee / applicant; v. City of Ketchikan, employer; and Alaska National Ins. Co., insurer / defendants; Case No. 9103418; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, this 28th day of June, 1997.



Bruce Dalrymple,



Workers' Compensation Officer

SNO
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     �Alaska Workers' Compensation Board Member Nancy Ridgley from 


Ketchikan recused herself due to personal knowledge of the case and a conflict of interest.


     �For our convenience, Member Vollendorf participated in the deliberations by telephone from the Workers' Compensation Division office in Anchorage. 


     �Although it would be improper to enter an order on this pleading as the parties have not yet argued the issue, we note that the Alaska Supreme Court has endorsed our practice of appointing, post-hearing, a third panel member to break a deadlock between the members of a two-member panel, Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing & Heating, 869 P. 2d 1170, 1177 (Alaska 1994).  Also, Defendants raised no objection to the selection of Ms. Vollendorf. 


     �Ibuprofen is the active ingredient in Advil.  Ibuprofen is a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID).  As with all NSAIDs, the mode of action is not understood.  PDR Generics (1995), page 1489.


     �"Cellulitis" is described as "[a] diffuse inflammation of connective tissue, especially of subcutaneous tissue."  Blakiston's Gould Medical Dictionary 242 (4th ed. 1979).  


     �Tylox is an analgesic composed of codeine and acetaminophen (Tylenol).


     �Aspirin is a type of anti-inflammatory drug.  Gerald S. Roberts, M.D., testified that aspirin is the "prototype" anti-inflammatory drug, and may have the same effect on the G.I. tract as NSAIDs.  Not surprisingly, this was not the first time Employee had taken Aspirin.  About a month before his knee injury, Employee was seen for chest pain by William H. Anthes, M.D.  Before that 25 January 1991 appointment, Employee began taking six to eight Aspirin per day for pain.  Dr. Anthes recommended that Employee continue to take six to eight Aspirin per day.


     �Indomethacin is a NSAID.


     �Indocin is a brand name for the NSAID indomethacin.


     �Deposition of Gerald S. Roberts, M.D., at 17-18, 22.


     �Colitis means inflammation of the colon.  The colon is the large, or lower intestine.  


     �The active ingredient in Bufferin is Aspirin.


     �The colonoscopy report incorrectly indicated the procedure was performed on 26 January 1992.


     �Colectomy means excision of all or a portion of the colon.


     �Employee was deposed on two occasions, 28 April 1995 and 19 February 1996.  Hereafter, we will refer to those depositions as "Short I" and "Short II" respectively.


     �Dr. Levine was actually deposed on 10 August 1995 and re-deposed on 29 March 1996.  Hereafter, we will refer to those depositions as "Levine I" and "Levine II" respectively.


     �We believe Dr. Levine is referring to the testimony from his first deposition at page 47, cited and discussed above.


     �The record contains references to a pathology report dated 23 July 1991 that referred to an active inflammatory process consistent with chronic ulcerative colitis.  We found no pathology report in the record bearing that date.  Dr. Anthes testified he first started listing Employee's problem as ulcerative colitis in the fall of 1992.   Anthes dep. at 22, Anthes chart note, 29 July 1991.


     �Obviously, Employee or his attorney had some knowledge of a relationship between NSAIDs and ulcerative colitis before Dr. Levine's letter of 27 March 1995, as Employee filed his Application more than five weeks before Dr. Levine wrote his letter.  Employee never testified how or when he acquired the knowledge which led to the filing of his claim.  As we have previously noted, however, the Physicians Desk Reference, a commonly used and readily available reference manual, warns of the dangers associated with NSAIDs, and establishes a probable relationship between NSAIDs and colitis.


     �For the last 30 years the test in Alaska for compensability in cases involving pre-existing conditions has been, and continues to be, that "a pre-existing disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought."  Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966) (emphasis added).


     �The warning states in pertinent part:  "Gastrointestinal bleeding without obvious ulcer formation and perforation of pre-existing sigmoid lesions . . . have occurred.  Increased abdominal pain in ulcerative colitis patients or the development of ulcerative colitis and regional ileitis have been reported to occur rarely."  PDR at 1567.


     �Although the temporal relationship is obvious, the medical evidence establishing that relationship is found in Dr. Roberts' deposition at pages 35-36. 


     �Employee states:


	  The application of the presumption here is particularly important.  There is no dispute in any of the medical evidence that the NSAIDs prescribed in March and again in April and a third time in May for Short's work related knee injury were a substantial factor in the bleeding and other signs of ulcerative colitis which first appeared almost simultaneously in the Spring of 1991.  The initial flare-up of his colitis is clearly work related.  Once the initial condition is shown to be work related, the claimant does not have to show that the continuation of the condition is work related.  That is presumed.


(Employee's Hearing Brief at 8, footnotes omitted.)


     �See, e.g., Levine II at 36-37.)


     �See, Levine II at 38.


     �See, Roberts dep. at 28.


     �See, Richey dep. at 25


     �See, Levine I at 29.


     �See, Anthes dep. at 34, 48, 60.


     �See, Anthes dep. at 54.


     �See, Anthes dep. at 64.


     �See, Levine II at 17.


     �See, Levine II at 53-56.


     �This assumes Employee has had no earnings since 2 March 1992.  If he has earned income from working after that date, he should promptly provide information of those earnings to Insurer.  Insurer should pay temporary partial disability compensation, as appropriate, for any weeks in which Employee had earnings.





